STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————  
Certiorari to Sumter County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge  
—————

**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

JUL 26 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

MATHEW C. DWYER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002210  
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
—————

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel abandoned his trial strategy midtrial and suddenly advised Petitioner not to testify since such advice was due to counsel's misunderstanding of the law on self-defense and the standard to obtain a jury instruction on self-defense, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if he had testified and presented evidence that he was acting in self-defense during the altercation with the decedent?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the night of January 26, 2015, the decedent, Johnny Singleton, was playing cards with friends. App. 152, l. 16 – 153, l. 8. He left between 9:30 and 10:00 pm. App. 153, ll. 9-12. He was alone. App. 153, ll. 9-12. His phone had been ringing throughout the night and Singleton left upset. App. 155, l. 17 – 156, l. 11. One of Singleton’s friends remembered seeing Petitioner at her house when Singleton was also present. App. 154, l. 18 – 155, l. 6.

The police found Singleton’s car wrecked backwards in a ditch early the next morning. App. 161, l. 1 – 162, l. 8; App. 166, l. 14 – 167, l. 8. Singleton was dead in the car. App. 83, ll. 15-23. The car was in reverse gear. App. 83, ll. 9-11. Singleton’s body was “found in the back seat of the vehicle, in a seated position, with his legs across the center console.” App. 83, ll. 17-23. The rear window was shattered, the driver’s window was broken, and the passenger front window was down. App. 84, ll. 13-23. The police concluded that the car was damaged from “reversing into the ditch.” App. 96, ll. 22-25. The next day, from the autopsy, the police learned Singleton had been shot in the back of the head. App. 95, ll. 20-24.

The police found Singleton’s phone in the woods behind the car. App. 120, l. 18 – 121, l. 3. After taking the phone into evidence, an investigator began calling the numbers in Singleton’s call history. App. 362, l. 17 – 369, l. 14. The police determined that Singleton and Petitioner had called each other that night. App. 362, l. 17 – 369, l. 14. They executed a search warrant at Petitioner’s residence and took him into custody. App. 241, l. 7 – 250, l. 14. Petitioner denied knowing anything about Singleton’s death. App. 245, l. 10 – 246, l. 4; App. 250, ll. 9-11.

The police summoned Petitioner’s brother, Stephen, to the station and interrogated him for over six hours. App. 297, l. 2 – 299, l. 25. They threatened Stephen with prosecution. App.

301, ll. 14-19. Stephen testified that the police told him that if he did not “say the right thing, I can be charged with accessory.” App. 306, l. 6 – 307, l. 2.

The state called Stephen as a witness at trial. App. 263, ll. 21-24. On the night of Singleton’s death, Stephen got a call from Petitioner. App. 266, ll. 5-11. Petitioner wanted Stephen to pick him up on Highway 521 in Sumter County. App. 266, l. 21 – 268, l. 22. When Stephen picked him up, Petitioner “looked beat up. Like really beat up.” App. 268, ll. 23-25. Petitioner “looked like he was in a fight.” App. 269, ll. 5-6. Petitioner’s hand was bleeding. App. 269, ll. 18-21. Stephen took him home. App. 270, l. 25 – 271, l. 11.

Stephen later saw Singleton’s death on the news and asked his brother what happened. App. 273, l. 10 – 274, l. 5. Stephen testified about what Petitioner told him:

Well he just said, I ain’t know if he had been knowing this man or not. But in the car, he said [the] man gave him the wallet. Being that was the type of person he was, I guess the man had – he said the man had gave him the wallet earlier because he wanted favors. **He wanted like sexual favors.** I didn’t know why they was going up there, but he wanted sexual favors. Matthew [Petitioner] said that the man gave him the wallet before anything ever went down. **And then on the way, on the way going there, I guess, he wanted Matthew to do some things for him. And Matthew just told me that he ended up pulling over. And that’s when they pulled over. And he’s probably force himself and they got in a tussle or whatever.**

App. 276, ll. 1-15 (emphasis added). Stephen continued:

And yeah, he just say that **after they pulled over, the man had really got more aggressive and try to force him to do whatever. And that’s how he got into a fight.** And when he say as they was fighting, **he stumbled across a gun....** I guess it was in the man’s car already. **And that’s when he just picked it up, and he said he shot him.** He didn’t know if he was dead or not. He just got out of the car and then called me.

App. 277, ll. 1-10 (emphasis added).

The solicitor attempted to impeach Stephen with a statement the police typed, Stephen signed, and was entered into evidence. In this statement, Stephen told the police that “Matthew told me that him and the dude was tussling in the car, and that the dude knew Karate, and had been military. And he got scared and said that he shot him in head.” App. 289, ll. 6-20. Petitioner and Singleton “were tussling” in the car and after Singleton got shot, “the car was wrecked and hit a tree.” App. 289, ll. 6-20. Stephen’s statement also says, “Matthew told me that the dude that got killed was a [fagot], that he used to rape boys.” App. 291, ll. 3-5.

On cross-examination, Stephen testified:

Q: . . . [Y]our brother told you that there was a tussle, is that right?

A: That’s right.

Q. There was a fight.

A. That’s right.

Q. He was scared, is that correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. I mean, that’s in your statement. Your brother told you he was scared, is that right?

A. That’s right.

Q. He also told you that this individual knew karate. Is that right?

A. That’s correct.

App. 302, l. 18 – 303, l. 15.

During the charge conference, trial counsel requested the judge charge the jury on self-defense. App. 415, l. 15 – 417, l. 7. He cited Stephen’s testimony and the statements entered into evidence showing Petitioner was scared and that his actions were reasonable. App. 415, l.

15 – 417, l. 7. Counsel asserted that “no matter how small, the evidence is there to at least offer that charge in self-defense.” App. 415, l. 15 – 417, l. 7.

The solicitor maintained there was no “evidence of self defense whatsoever.” App. 418, ll. 3-25. The trial judge agreed. She ultimately ruled:

In regards to the self defense issue, Mr. Keffer [trial counsel], the court will respectfully deny your motion. The court finds that **there is no testimony to establish the elements of self defense**; that the defendant was without fault, and the defendant was imminent danger, and that there was no other way to avoid the danger. The testimony did not establish those three elements.

App. 419, ll. 1-8 (emphasis added).

A Sumter County grand jury indicted Petitioner on July 9, 2015 for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 620-621. His case was called to trial on October 19, 2015 before the Honorable Maite Murphy, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitor John P. Meadors represented the state, and John S. Keffer represented Petitioner. App. 1. On October 23, 2015, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 478, l. 21 – 479, l. 14. He was sentenced to forty-five years for murder and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. App. 489, l. 16 – 490, l. 4.

Petitioner challenged the trial judge’s decision not to charge self-defense on direct appeal. He argued:

The trial court erred in refusing to charge self-defense when evidence showed that appellant and the decedent, who was ex-military and knew martial arts, got into a fight after a sexual advance in the decedent’s moving car and that appellant was scared.

App. 497.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentence holding there was no evidence from which it could reasonably be inferred that Petitioner acted in self-defense and

therefore he was not entitled to a self-defense instruction. State v. Dwyer, 2017-UP-440 (S.C. Ct. App. December 6, 2017); App. 529-530.

On May 21, 2018, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 532-541. The state filed a return to this application dated July 26, 2018. App. 542-554. An evidentiary hearing was convened on November 16, 2018 before the Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr. App. 555. Assistant Attorney General Susannah Cole represented the state, and Timothy Griffith represented Petitioner. App. 555.

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that his trial strategy was to argue self-defense. App. 567, l. 22 – 568, l. 4. This was the only defense he and trial counsel had discussed. App. 568, ll. 2-3. The plan before trial was for Petitioner to testify and tell his “side of the story.” App. 564, ll. 16-22. Petitioner explained, “The whole week [of trial] me and him [trial counsel] agreed that I was going to testify.” App. 565, ll. 9-12. However, all of a sudden on the fourth day of trial after eleven witnesses had testified for the state, including Petitioner’s brother, trial counsel told Petitioner “it would be a bad idea for [him] to testify.” App. 565, ll. 12-15. Counsel told Petitioner it was not necessary for him to testify because his brother, Stephen Dwyer, “testified in [Petitioner’s] favor.” App. 565, ll. 12-15. Consequently, based on counsel’s advice, Petitioner did not testify at trial. App. 565, ll. 9-10.

At the hearing, Petitioner made clear, “I wanted to testify. This was a self-defense case. Without my testimony, the jury . . . wouldn’t know what happened in the vehicle because me and the deceased was the only two involved and they [the jurors] never got the opportunity to hear my side of the story.” App. 564, ll. 17-22. He asserted the outcome of his trial would have been different if he had testified. App. 564, l. 23 – 565, l. 1.

Petitioner's testimony at the evidentiary hearing that his trial strategy was self-defense and that he had always planned to testify was corroborated by trial counsel's opening statement to the jury. Counsel told the jury:

Mr. Dwyer [Petitioner] comes to this courtroom with the presumption of innocence. And that's the foundation of our law. . .

Now Mr. Meador's [the solicitor] job is to start taking off that cloak of the presumption of innocence. And he laid out certain facts, which are not in dispute. Mr. Dwyer [Petitioner] knew Mr. Singleton. [They] were together that night. We know that there [were] conversations that day. We know from cell phone records they knew each [other] and they spoke. The rest of it is pure speculation. Because the reality of it is, Mr. Singleton picked up Mr. Dwyer about 9:30, 10:00 o'clock.

Mr. Singleton is actually from Camden. Which is why they were on [Highway] 521. And they were driving on 521. And we believe the evidence is going to show that Mr. Dwyer asked to get out of the car; that he felt uncomfortable; that he asked several times for Mr. Singleton to stop the car. And the car did stop. And Mr. Singleton was driving, and there was a fight and there was an altercation. And that is something the State didn't present to you, because they don't want [you] to consider that. But that's the reality and that's what happened.

We're not going to spend 2 or 3 days worrying about who called who, when and where. Because we know that they spoke. And we know that they're together, and you're going to hear that. What we will discuss, and what I will proffer; is that, **this is a case of self-defense. There was a fight, and there was a disagreement and there was an altercation.** And that is not in dispute. What's also not in dispute is Mr. Singleton's death. He died January 26th. He died of a bullet hole. **Mr. Dwyer [Petitioner] is not going to get up there and say that didn't [happen]. He is going to get up there and explain why it happened. What were the facts and circumstances behind that. Why were they there? Why was he in the car? What was his relationship with Mr. Singleton? Did they know each other before?** They were not strangers. They knew each other before.

...

**What is in dispute is what happened to these two people in that car. Why did the car stop? Why was it found the way it was found? Why was the cell phone where it was found? What exactly happened? We believe that the evidence is going to suggest, is going to show this is a case of self-defense. That is not murder.**

***Mr. Dwyer is not going to say this didn't happen. He's going to explain why it happened.***

App. 76, l. 5 – 76, l. 25 (emphasis added).

Petitioner's testimony was further corroborated by trial counsel, John Keffer. Keffer explained at the evidentiary hearing that during his first meeting with Petitioner, Petitioner "had claimed it was in self-defense, that the victim in the case was an alleged sexual offender, that he had known the victim, that the victim had tried to assault him and he was defending himself and he had maintained that pretty much from day one." App. 574, ll. 3-10. Keffer said he "vigorously pursued" self-defense and that his intent was to present evidence to support that Petitioner was acting in self-defense during the altercation with Singleton. App. 575, ll. 8-22. He repeated several times throughout his testimony that Petitioner intended to testify in his defense. App. 588, ll. 11-16; App. 589, ll. 19-23; App. 591, ll. 15-20.

Keffer asserted that he ultimately advised Petitioner not to testify because of a letter Petitioner wrote to Demetrius Cooper in March 2015 asking Cooper to create an alibi for Petitioner for the night the decedent died and to explain how Petitioner injured his hand that evening. Keffer said he learned of this letter "either on the eve of trial or shortly after a jury was impaneled." App. 577, ll. 1-21. He maintained the letter "completely, completely changed the case." App. 578, ll. 16-20. The case went from Petitioner was acting in self-defense "to now he's searching for an alibi." App. 578, ll. 16-20. According to Keffer, this is why Petitioner did not testify. App. 578, ll. 16-23. Keffer refused to acknowledge that Petitioner may have written the letter to Cooper out of fear since he was facing life without parole, and to do whatever he could to avoid a trial and conviction. App. 583, l. 23 – 585, l. 19.

By order filed November 30, 2018, the PCR judge ultimately denied Petitioner relief finding Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was deficient. App. 606-619. The judge found

counsel's advice to Petitioner not to testify because counsel believed Stephen Dwyer's testimony and statements concerning what Petitioner told him after the altercation "were enough to request a self-defense charge" was not deficient. App. 618. The judge further found that counsel's advice to Petitioner that it "was too risky" for Petitioner to take the stand and explain why he wrote the letter to Demetrius Cooper asking Cooper to create an alibi for him was reasonable. App. 616-617. The judge ultimately concluded that trial counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for advising Petitioner not to testify in his defense. App. 617.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel abandoned his trial strategy midtrial and suddenly advised Petitioner not to testify due to counsel's misunderstanding of the law on self-defense and the standard to obtain a jury instruction on self-defense, and because Petitioner was prejudiced since there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if he had testified that he was acting in self-defense during the altercation with the decedent, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel abandoned his trial strategy midtrial and suddenly advised Petitioner not to testify since such advice was due to counsel's misunderstanding of the law on self-defense and the standard to obtain a jury instruction on self-defense, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if he had testified and presented evidence that he was acting in self-defense during the altercation with the decedent.

Petitioner had consistently maintained his desire to testify in his defense at trial. Trial counsel admitted the strategy before trial was that Petitioner was going to testify. Counsel even informed the jury during his opening statement that Petitioner would testify and show he was acting in self-defense. However, in the middle of trial, counsel suddenly advised Petitioner that he should not take the stand due to the letter Petitioner had written to Demetrius Cooper requesting Cooper create an alibi for him for the night of the altercation. This constituted deficient performance because, in giving such advice, counsel failed to utilize his discretion and demonstrated his misunderstanding of the law of self-defense and the requirements needed to obtain a jury instruction on self-defense.

Any reasonably competent criminal defense attorney would have known that it would be near impossible to establish Petitioner was acting in self-defense during the physical altercation with the decedent without Petitioner's testimony. Counsel also should have known that the trial judge was going to refuse to charge self-defense based only on the evidence presented during the state's case in chief.

Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different if he had testified in his defense and presented evidence that he was acting in self-defense.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. at 686; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

The United States Supreme Court has established a two pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient" and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Under the second prong, Petitioner must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

"The decision to testify or not is a perilous one. If a defendant does not testify, he foregoes the opportunity to tell the jury his version of events. On the other hand, if a defendant chooses to testify, he subjects himself to cross-examination, including possible impeachment

with prior convictions.” Brown v. State, 340 S.C. 590, 594, 533 S.E.2d 308, 310 (2000) (citing Rule 609, SCRE). “A defendant’s decision to testify or not must be made with knowledge of the consequences of either choice.” Id. (citing State v. Orr, 304 S.C. 185, 403 S.E.2d 623 (1991) (waiver of Fifth Amendment right must be knowing and voluntary), *overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991)).

In Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999), this Court held trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to consider the possibility of Foye testifying in his defense given the evidence presented at trial. Foye was charged with trafficking cocaine. Id. at 588, 518 S.E.2d at 266. He was tried jointly with his father. Id. at 591, 518 S.E.2d at 268. After his father told Foye’s counsel that he would testify Foye did not know cocaine was in the gym bag, counsel advised Foye not to testify because of his prior convictions. Id. However, at trial, his father testified he told Foye cocaine was in the gym bag as the pair were walking into the hotel to deliver the drugs and that Foye wanted to help his father because he was afraid his father would get hurt. Id. The two passed the bag back and forth before his father insisted Foye should not get involved and took the bag away from him prior to entering the hotel. Id. Foye waited in the lobby while his father delivered the cocaine. Id.

This Court held Foye’s counsel was ineffective because he did not consider the possibility of Foye testifying after his father’s damaging testimony. Id. at 592, 518 S.E.2d at 268. The Court concluded “counsel failed to use his discretion in employing an appropriate trial strategy in light of the unexpected testimony.” Id. The Court emphasized counsel’s admission that it may have been proper to put Foye on the stand after his father’s damaging testimony. Id.

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