STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
DEC 09 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
George M. McFaddin, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Maite Murphy, Trial Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002210

MATTHEW C. DWYER,
Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,
Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

“Under Strickland, in order to provide ineffective assistance of counsel based on his claim that his attorney prevented him from exercising his right to testify at the pre-trial hearing,

Rashaad must show both that his attorney violated his right to testify and that this testimony had a ‘reasonable probability’ of changing the outcome.” United States v. Rashaad, 249 F. App’x 972, 973 (4th Cir. 2007) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.) Here, Petitioner cannot establish Counsel violated his right to testify or that his testimony would have a reasonable probability of changing the outcome of his trial.

Advised of Right to Testify

As an initial matter, it is evident from the record and Petitioner’s testimony that Petitioner was aware of his right to testify at his trial, and aware that the decision as to whether to testify or not was up to him. Petitioner testified he and Counsel agreed he would testify at trial initially. (App. 565.) Petitioner testified he changed his mind based on Counsel’s advice and it was his decision not to testify. (App. 565.) Further, the trial court conducted a thorough colloquy with Petitioner where the trial court reiterated Petitioner’s right to testify, the decision to testify was his to make, and only Petitioner could waive his right to testify. (App. 408-410.) Petitioner was afforded an opportunity to speak with Counsel prior to making his decision, after which, Petitioner told Judge Murphy he understood his right and would not be testifying. (App. 410.)

“A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of a statutory or constitutional right must be established by a complete record; and may be accomplished by colloquy between the court and the defendant, between the court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993). Here, not only is the record complete with a thorough colloquy between Petitioner and the trial judge, but Petitioner and Counsel both testified at the evidentiary hearing that Petitioner was aware of his right to testify, and knew it was Petitioner’s decision as to whether or not to testify. Ultimately, Petitioner informed Counsel and the trial court that he made the decision not to testify, despite knowing he had the right to do so.

Counsel's Reevaluation of Petitioner's Case

Nevertheless, Petitioner claims he did not testify based on the erroneous advice of Counsel. Counsel testified he was prepared to present Petitioner's self-defense claim at trial and filed notice of that defense with the court. (App. 575.) However, Counsel testified his evaluation of Petitioner's case changed upon receiving a letter from the State that was written in code by Petitioner, which, in Counsel's assessment, "completely changed the case." (App. 578.) Counsel testified the letter sent to Cooper was written in a code and, once decoded, it revealed Petitioner was asking Cooper to be an alibi witness for him. (App. 577.) Petitioner also asked Cooper to say that Petitioner got in a fight so he could explain the injury he sustained to his hand. (App. 577.) Petitioner admitted to writing the letter during the evidentiary hearing, however, he never told Counsel about the letter prior to trial. (App. 568-569, 577, 578.) After receiving the letter, Counsel met with Cooper and he confirmed he received the letter from Petitioner, and had no intention of providing Petitioner with an alibi. (App. 578.) As a result of the letter, Counsel testified, "[Petitioner] and I had several conversations about him testifying, and I told him that he would be subject to cross-examination based on that letter, if he wanted to testify that was up to him." (App. 578.) Counsel testified his assessment of Petitioner's case went from "self-defense to now he's searching for an alibi." (App. 578.) Counsel testified the plan for Petitioner to testify took a turn after he received that letter. (App. 579.)

Petitioner uses Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999), to support his position that Counsel was deficient. Petitioner argues Counsel was deficient because "he abandoned his trial strategy midtrial and failed to utilize his discretion when he advised Petitioner not to testify." (PWC. 13.) However, in Foye, counsel's initial trial strategy was for Foye not to testify and, after Foye's co-defendant provided damaging testimony, counsel

admitted he did not reevaluate his position on whether Foye should testify. Id. at 592, 518 S.E.2d at 269. This Court found Foye’s counsel deficient for failing to use “his discretion in employing an appropriate trial strategy in light of the unexpected testimony.” Foye, 335 S.C. at 592, 518 S.E.2d at 268.

Here, unlike Foye, Counsel testified his assessment of Petitioner taking the stand changed once he received the letter Petitioner wrote “searching for an alibi.” (App. 578.) As Counsel credibly testified, he was “shocked” when he received the letter and reevaluated Petitioner’s decision to testify at trial after receiving the letter that “completely changed the case.” (App. 578, 584.) It is evident from Counsel’s credible testimony at the evidentiary hearing that his assessment and advice to Petitioner changed once he received the letter that contradicted Petitioner’s self-defense claim. Counsel testified, “. . . our whole case was built on what [Petitioner] had told me and it turned out what he had told me wasn’t necessarily the truth[.]” (App. 584.) Counsel further testified, “. . . the letter fundamentally changed everything. [Y]ou can’t go forward with a self-defense when at the same time you’re asking for an alibi that no one knows about.” (App. 583.) Counsel also testified he and Petitioner had “several conversations about [Petitioner] testifying, and I told him that he would be subject to cross-examination based on that letter, if he wanted to testify that was up to him.” (App. 578.)

Notably, although Petitioner admitted to writing the letter, Counsel testified, “[Petitioner] didn’t tell me about the letter when he wrote it; and despite the fact that I met with him, as he said, five, six, seven, eight times, not one time did he discuss that letter with me.” (App. 585.) Here, unlike Foye, Petitioner created the situation he now complains of as he put Counsel in a position to be surprised by his letter, which led to Counsel having to reevaluate the trial strategy at the outset of the trial. Counsel would not have been in the position to reevaluate the original

strategy had Petitioner informed Counsel about the letter he authored and sent to Cooper in an attempt to secure an alibi. Further, Petitioner improperly claims Counsel “abandoned his trial strategy midtrial.” (PWC. 13.) Counsel testified he received the letter, which led to his reevaluation, “on the eve of trial or shortly after a jury was impaneled,” which is well before “midtrial.” (App. 577.) Although Counsel testified, “I didn’t know if he was going to testify or not when we received that letter[,]” Petitioner was aware the trial strategy had changed when Counsel received the letter, which was earlier than “midtrial.” (App. 589.)

Petitioner has failed to show this Court how Counsel was deficient as Counsel reassessed his trial strategy upon receipt of the coded letter Petitioner sent to Cooper. This Court found the counsel in Foye to be deficient for failing to reassess Foye’s need to testify based on changes in his case, here, that is precisely what Counsel did. Counsel properly reassessed Petitioner’s case based on the letter and advised Petitioner based on his reevaluation and the risk Petitioner would be taking subjecting himself to cross-examination. Counsel testified his trial strategy changed as a result of Petitioner’s letter. “When counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (internal citations omitted). Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. 466 U.S. 668 (1984). No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). As

such, Petitioner has failed to establish Counsel was deficient as to this allegation and the post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief as to this claim.

Petitioner Failed to Show Prejudice

Petitioner has also failed to show this Court any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged deficiency. Petitioner claims "there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if Petitioner would have testified he was acting in self-defense during the altercation with [the victim.]" (PWC. 13.) However, Counsel properly informed Petitioner that if he took the stand he was subject to cross-examination regarding the letter. (App. 578.) Counsel testified,

I said, you're gonna have to explain this letter, you're gonna [have to] explain why you wrote this letter . . . he had no answer for that." (App. 579.) Counsel testified, . . . if what you're getting at is that somehow [Petitioner] was justified [in] writing that letter with a code and asking for an alibi, I'm not sure I'm gonna go to that extent because . . . I've never seen that in 18 years.

(App. 584.)

According to Counsel, the "shocking" letter that "changed everything" would have been severely damaging to Petitioner's credibility. Cooper testified at trial about the decoded letter, which stated in part:

I need an alibi for January 26th. My 'story' is that from 6:00 p.m. until about 8:15 p.m., I was with you. We were drinking and chilling in Populars Square. All you know is when you pulled up, I was already there.

(App. 202-204.) Cooper went on to explain the contents of the letter indicated Cooper should say that he saw Petitioner get into a fight and Cooper broke it up and that is how Petitioner's thumb was injured. (App. 204-206.) Petitioner ended his letter with:

So just in case anybody contacts you, and you will know what to say and our stories will match. Let me know if that is all right with you. It's a shame I can't depend on my own brother [Stephen] to

get the job done. Also see if you can get in contact with Devon Kerley on facebook, and tell him to write me ASAP. I appreciate everything bro.³

(App. 208.) Cooper went on to testify that he took Petitioner's letter to mean Petitioner wanted Cooper to give him an alibi. (App. 209.) Cooper testified he thought about helping Petitioner, but ultimately decided not to provide him with an alibi. (App. 209-210.)

In Foye, this Court found Foye was not prejudiced by his counsel's deficiency because, "Petitioner's prior convictions probably could have been admissible to impeach his testimony and cast severe doubt on his credibility." Foye, 335 S.C. at 592, 518 S.E.2d at 268. Here, had Petitioner chosen to testify regarding his self-defense claim, his credibility would have been severely questioned as the letter and Cooper's testimony show he was attempting to manufacture an alibi. Although Petitioner claims he could have "easily explained to the jury why he wrote the letter," Counsel testified Petitioner had no answer for why he wrote the letter during their conversations. (PWC. 13; App. 579.)

Further damaging to Petitioner's credibility was the testimony of Stephen. Stephen's testimony was in stark contrast to Cooper's testimony. Stephen testified Petitioner told him,

. . . [Petitioner] and that dude were tussling in the car, and that the dude knew Karate, and had been military. And he got scared and said that he shot him in the head. [Petitioner] told me the dude saw the gun. They were in the car when they were tussling. And after he shot him, the car was wrecked and hit a tree. Petitioner took the victim's wallet and money and threw the victim's phone into the woods.

(App. 289.) Petitioner also told Stephen he hid the gun in the back of a truck at the club off of Hwy. 521. (App. 291.) Unfortunately for Petitioner, the physical evidence presented in his case

³ There was a "p.s." to Petitioner's letter requesting Cooper contact yet another individual so Cooper could call him three-way with Petitioner. Petitioner requested Cooper let the individual "know what is going on with me." (App. 208-209.) This testimony made it clear Cooper was not the only person Petitioner was reaching out to for an alibi.

supported Stephen's version of events rather than Petitioner's self-defense theory. Meadors testified,

There was [Petitioner's] blood. . . on the socks of the victim, and the testimony of the victim had come from a poker game and he always put his money in his socks and so we believe that [Petitioner] hurt his hand and was bleeding from the gun and that's where the blood came from his hand to the sock of the victim.

(App. 597.)

Petitioner's credibility is also challenged because Petitioner initially told Counsel there were two other witnesses in the vehicle with him and the victim. (App. 590.) Counsel testified he attempted to locate these two people through his investigation, but he was unable to locate them. (App. 590.) Petitioner claimed the unknown subjects were with him when he cut his hand at a store. (App. 590.) Counsel testified Petitioner told him he was scared of these unknown subjects and believed they would pull a gun on him. (App. 591.) Counsel testified he believes the unknown subjects do not exist as the State was also unable to produce any witnesses that were in the vehicle. (App. 590.) Counsel's advice to Petitioner regarding the risk he was taking if he chose to testify was very reasonable considering Petitioner's testimony regarding his claim of self-defense would have provide yet another version of his "story" to the jurors. Petitioner's attempt to manufacture an alibi and the fact that he provided inconsistent versions of his story to numerous people, it is unreasonable to believe Petitioner's testimony would have been considered credible by the jury and would have changed the outcome of his trial.

Petitioner has failed to establish any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged deficiency. As this Court found in Foye, Petitioner here cannot establish he would have been credible to the jury had he chosen to testify at trial regarding his self-defense claim. As Counsel discovered during his representation, Petitioner was untruthful and, based on the evidence presented against him at trial, it would be readily apparent to a reasonable jury that Petitioner

was not credible. As such, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden as set forth in Strickland to show any deficiency on behalf of Counsel or any resulting prejudice. As such, the post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief as to this claim and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.